D. ANDREW TOMPKINS, MD MHS

Clinical Research Protocol

THE EFFECT OF CHRONIC PAIN ON DELAY DISCOUNTING IN METHADONE PATIENTS NCT04473950

| Protocol Number: | Z-1902, IRB 19-27838 | |
|-------------------------|---|---|
| Version Date: | 12-09-2020 | |
| Sponsor: | D. Andrew Tompkins, MD MHS Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital 1001 Potrero Ave., Ward 95, Rm 511 San Francisco, CA 94110 | |
| Funding Organization: | NIDA | |
| Principal Investigator: | Name: Telephone: Fax: E-mail: | D. Andrew Tompkins, MD MHS 628-206-3645 628-206-6875 david.tompkins@ucsf.edu |
| Medical Monitor: | Name: Telephone: Fax: E-mail: | Scott Steiger, MD 628-206-6479 628-206-4153 scott.steiger@ucsf.edu |

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 1 of 37

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1 | BAC | CKGROUND | .9 |
|---|-----|---|------|
| | 1.2 | Background/prevalence of research topic Error! Bookmark not defined. | |
| 2 | STU | DY RATIONALE | . 10 |
| | 2.1 | Risk / Benefit Assessment | . 10 |
| 3 | STU | DY OBJECTIVES | . 11 |
| | 3.1 | Primary Objective | . 12 |
| | 3.2 | Secondary Objectives | . 12 |
| 4 | STU | DY DESIGN | . 12 |
| | 4.1 | Study Overview | |
| 5 | CRI | TERIA FOR EVALUATION | . 12 |
| | 5.1 | Primary Efficacy Endpoint | . 12 |
| | 5.2 | Secondary Efficacy Endpoints | . 13 |
| | 5.3 | Safety Evaluations | . 13 |
| 6 | SUB | SJECT SELECTION | . 13 |
| | 6.1 | Study Population | . 13 |
| | 6.2 | Inclusion Criteria | . 13 |
| | 6.3 | Exclusion Criteria | . 14 |
| 7 | CO | NCURRENT MEDICATIONS | . 14 |
| | 7.1 | Allowed | . 14 |
| | 7.2 | Prohibited | . 14 |
| 8 | STU | TDY MEDICATIONS | . 14 |
| | 8.1 | Method of Assigning Subjects to Treatment Groups | . 14 |
| | 8.2 | Blinding | . 14 |
| | 8.3 | Formulation of Naloxone and Placebo. | . 15 |
| | 8.4 | Supply of Study Medication at the Site | |
| | | Error! Bookmark not defined. | |
| | 8.5 | Study Medication Accountability | |
| 9 | | DY PROCEDURES AND GUIDELINES | |
| | | Clinical Assessments | . 16 |
| | 9.2 | Clinical Laboratory Measurements Error! Bookmark not defined. | |
| | 9.3 | Pupilometer | |
| | | Error! Bookmark not defined. | |
| | 9.4 | Impsulivity Measures | |
| | 0.5 | Error! Bookmark not defined. | |
| | 9.5 | Opioid Withdrawal Measures Error! Bookmark not defined. | |
| | 9.6 | Pain Measures | |
| | 7.0 | Error! Bookmark not defined. | |
| | | | |

Version Date: 12/09/2020

| | 9.7 | Psychiatric Measures | |
|----|------|---|-----|
| | | Error! Bookmark not defined. | |
| 10 | | LUATIONS BY VISIT | |
| | | Visit 1 (Screening) | |
| | | Visits 2-3 (Sessions 1-2) | |
| 11 | | TERSE EXPERIENCE REPORTING AND DOCUMENTATION | |
| | | Adverse Events | |
| | | Serious Adverse Experiences (SAE) | |
| | | Medical Monitoring | |
| 12 | DISC | CONTINUATION AND REPLACEMENT OF SUBJECTS | 23 |
| | 12.1 | Withdrawal of Subjects | |
| | | Error! Bookmark not defined. | |
| | | Replacement of Subjects | |
| | | TOCOL VIOLATIONS | |
| 14 | | TISTICAL METHODS AND CONSIDERATIONS | |
| | | Data Sets Analyzed | |
| | 14.2 | Demographic and Baseline Characteristics | 24 |
| | | Analysis of Primary Endpoint | |
| | 14.4 | Analysis of Secondary Endpoints | 25 |
| | 14.5 | Interim Analysis | 26 |
| | 14.6 | Sample Size and Randomization | 26 |
| 15 | DAT | A COLLECTION, RETENTION AND MONITORING | 26 |
| | 15.1 | Data Collection Instruments. | 26 |
| | 15.2 | Data Management Procedures | 27 |
| | 15.3 | Data Quality Control and Reporting | 27 |
| | 15.4 | Archival of Data | 27 |
| | 15.5 | Availability and Retention of Investigational Records | 27 |
| | 15.6 | Subject Confidentiality | 27 |
| 16 | ADN | MINISTRATIVE, ETHICAL, REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS | 27 |
| | 16.1 | Protocol Amendments | 28 |
| | 16.2 | Institutional Review Boards and Independent Ethics Committees | 28 |
| | | Informed Consent Form | |
| | | Publications | |
| | | Investigator Responsibilities | |
| 17 | | ERENCES CITED | ••• |

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AE adverse event

ANOVA Analysis of variance

BPRU Behavioral Pharmacology Research Unit

CFR Code of Federal Regulations

COWS Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale

DCF Data collection form EKG electrocardiogram

FDA Food and Drug Administration
GAD Generalized anxiety disorder

GCP Good Clinical Practice

HIPAA Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996

HIV Human immunodeficiency virus

ICF informed consent form

ICH International Conference on Harmonisation

IM Intramuscular

IRB Institutional Review Board

IV intravenous

MAT Medication assisted treatment
MLR Multiple linear regression

MMT Methadone maintenance treatment
NIDA National Institute on Drug Abuse

OHRP Office of Human Research Protections
OTOP Opiate treatment outpatient program

OUD Opioid use disorder

PHQ Patient Health Questionnaire

PI Principal Investigator

PCS Pain catastrophizing scale SAE serious adverse experience

SCL Symptom Checklist

SLR Simple linear regression

SOWS Subjective Opiate Withdrawal Scale

SUD Substance use disorders
VAS Visual analog scale

PROTOCOL SYNOPSIS

| TITLE | The Effect of Chronic Pain on Delay Discounting in Methadone Patients |
|-------------------------|---|
| SPONSOR | D. Andrew Tompkins, MD MHS |
| FUNDING | NIDA |
| ORGANIZATION | |
| NUMBER OF SITES | 1 |
| RATIONALE | The epidemic of opioid overdose deaths continues to rise, killing more persons in 2017 than HIV/AIDS at the height of that epidemic. Medication assisted treatment, including methadone and buprenorphine, is the standard of care for the treatment of OUD. However, chronic pain can reduce treatment efficacy during medication assisted treatment and is associated with illicit substance relapse, dropout, and subsequent overdose. Mechanisms by which chronic pain may influence the impulsive decision making (e.g., drug relapse) in persons with OUD have not been well characterized. A better understanding is needed of decision-making in this population. Two factors that can influence decisions to use drugs are impulsivity and acute opioid withdrawal. This proposal will test how chronic pain is associated with increases in impulsive decision making in OUD, whether impulsive decision making is greater when undergoing opioid withdrawal, and how catastrophizing may modify the association between withdrawal and impulsive decision making in patients with chronic pain and OUD. An ideal population for this developmental research project is methadone-maintained patients, who show high treatment attendance rates and will therefore assure study efficiency and reliable completion. |
| STUDY DESIGN | This proposal is a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled Phase 1 clinical trial / human laboratory study to assess the effect of acute opioid withdrawal precipitated by 0.1 mg IM naloxone on delay discounting in patients on MMT with and without chronic pain. |
| PRIMARY OBJECTIVE | Determine the effect of aversive stressors on delay discounting in persons in methadone maintenance. |
| SECONDARY OBJECTIVES | Investigate the degree to which trait pain catastrophizing modifies the association between opioid withdrawal and delay discounting in the PAIN group. Examine the effect of biological sex on discounting, opioid withdrawal, pain VAS, and pain catastrophizing Examine the association between somatization, depressive symptoms, anxiety and discounting. We expect to enroll 130 participants on MMT, 65 in the chronic pain |
| SUBJECTS | group (PAIN) and 65 in the group without chronic pain (NO PAIN). Assuming a 25% drop-out rate, we expect to have 50 completers of both experimental sessions in each group. |

| SUBJECT | Inclusion Cuitario |
|-----------------|---|
| SUBJECT | Inclusion Criteria: |
| SELECTION | 1) Male and female adults aged 18-65 |
| CRITERIA | 2) Stable methodone dose (at least 21 days) verified by |
| | contacting participant's opioid treatment program |
| | 3) Understand and speak English |
| | 4) Urine toxicology screen negative for drugs of abuse and |
| | positive for methadone |
| | 5) Must be without by signs of intoxication as evidenced by |
| | ability to receive full dose of methadone prior to research |
| | activities |
| | 6) Presence of chronic pain (>3 months) for the PAIN group and |
| | absence of pain for the NO PAIN group. |
| | Exclusion Criteria: |
| | 7) Unstable psychiatric illness as assessed by the Mini |
| | International Neuropsychiatric Interview (e.g. active suicidal |
| | ideation, psychosis) |
| | 8) Unstable medical illness as assessed by the study's |
| | independent medical monitor (e.g. uncontrolled hypertension, |
| | recent myocardial infarction, recent stroke, unstable angina) |
| | that may be affected by precipitated withdrawal |
| | 9) Prescription opioid use besides methadone |
| | 10) Acute pain process unrelated to chronic pain |
| | 11) Women who are pregnant or lactating |
| | 12) Known allergy to naloxone |
| | Patients will be allowed to re-screen if it is expected that an inclusion |
| | criterion not met or an exclusion criterion met will change prior to the |
| | end of study recruitment. |
| TEST PRODUCT | · |
| TEST PRODUCT, | Naloxone 0.1 mg IM |
| DOSE, AND ROUTE | Product will be administered once at the beginning of a study session. |
| OF | Administration will occur two hours after methadone dosing. |
| ADMINISTRATION | |
| CONTROL | Placebo injection (0.9% Normal Saline) |
| PRODUCT, DOSE | Product will be administered once at the beginning of a study session. |
| AND ROUTE OF | Administration will occur two hours after methadone dosing. |
| ADMINISTRATION | |
| DURATION OF | Subjects will be on study for an average of two to four weeks |
| SUBJECT | Screening: 3 hours |
| PARTICIPATION | Sessions: Each session will last approximately four hours. |
| AND DURATION OF | Sessions must occur at least 48 hours apart. |
| STUDY | |
| CONCOMMITANT | Beyond their methadone maintenance dose, participants will be |
| MEDICATIONS | allowed to take OTC or prescription strength non-opioid analgesic |
| | medications such as acetaminophen or ibuprofen for pain throughout |
| | the study, consistent with standards of care. |
| | Prohibited : Opioid analgesics other than methadone |
| | - I |

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 6 of 37

| EVALUATIONS | | |
|-----------------------|--|--|
| PRIMARY ENDPOINT | Delay discounting of money rate (k) | |
| SECONDARY | Pain VAS ratings (0-100) | |
| ENDPOINTS | Peak COWS | |
| | Peak SOWS | |
| | Peak Change from Baseline Pupil Diameter | |
| | Peak VAS of Subjective drug effects (0-100) | |
| | Drug Effects | |
| | Good Effects | |
| | Bad Effects | |
| | Liking | |
| | • Sick | |
| OTHER | Pain Catastrophizing Scale | |
| EVALUATIONS | Barratt Impulsivity Scale-11 | |
| | Eysenck Impulsivity Questionnaire | |
| | Sensation Seeking Scale | |
| | Zimbardo Time Perspective Inventory | |
| SAFETY | Incidence of adverse events | |
| EVALUATIONS | Change in vital signs from baseline (HR, BP, RR, % oxygen) | |
| | saturation) | |
| PLANNED INTERIM | When approximately 10 patients have completed the study, an interim | |
| ANALYSES | analysis will be conducted by the study statistician. If there is no trend | |
| | of differences in delay discounting between placebo and naloxone | |
| | administration sessions, we would discuss with our NIDA program | |
| | official and independent medical monitor on the following two | |
| | options: increasing the dose of naloxone to 0.15 mg or administering | |
| | 0.1 mg naloxone at trough instead of peak methadone levels. Serious adverse events will be monitored by the medical monitor throughout | |
| | the duration of the study. | |
| STATISTICS | Using methods developed by co-I Johnson, nonlinear regression will | |
| Primary Analysis Plan | be used to calculate individual values of k, larger k values indicate | |
| Timary Analysis I lan | greater discounting or more impulsiveness. K values are normalized | |
| | using log transformation for parametric analysis. We will use repeated | |
| | measures analyses implemented in SAS PROC MIXED. The | |
| | dependent variable is k (discounting). Independent variables include | |
| | Group (PAIN vs. NO PAIN), a fixed, between-subjects effect and | |
| | Condition (control vs. withdrawal), a repeated, within-subjects effect. | |
| | The Group x Condition interaction will be examined to determine if | |
| | group differences vary by condition. Planned contrasts will explore | |
| | additive effects of chronic pain and withdrawal by examining whether | |
| | discounting by the PAIN group in the withdrawal condition is greater | |
| | than 1) discounting by the PAIN group in the control condition, or 2) | |
| | discounting by the NO PAIN group in the withdrawal condition. To | |
| | examine the effect of differing levels of peak aversive stimuli on | |
| | discounting, we will conduct analyses using only data from the | |
| | naloxone-precipitated withdrawal session that include peak COWS | |

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 7 of 37

| | scores. |
|----------------------|---|
| Rationale for Number | Because there is no empirical data on within-subject changes in |
| of Subjects | discounting associated with naloxone precipitated withdrawal, we estimated change using data from a study by consortium PI Johnson that used similar measures and found abstinence from smoking in nicotine-dependent individuals' decreased discounting rates ($f2$ =.02). For between group differences, we relied on data from our pilot study showing a correlation between pain and discounting (rho=.25) consistent with a small to medium effect size ($f2$ =.08). Three reported effect sizes for studies comparing opioid and tobacco dependent participants and non-dependent participants show much larger effects sizes (approximately $f2$ =0.4). Thus, basing the sample size on the effect size seen in the pilot study conservatively yields a sample size that will provide more than sufficient power to detect a group difference. Using these within-subject and between-subjects effect sizes, and assuming a correlation among repeated measures of 0.5, a final, analysis sample of 100 (50 per PAIN and NO PAIN groups) will provide greater than 80% power to detect significance (alpha=.05, 2-tailed) for between groups main effects, within-subject effects of condition, and the interaction between the two. |

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 8 of 37

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 Background/prevalence of research topic

Chronic pain is pain that has persisted for at least one month past the usual healing time of a specific injury, typically lasting for 6 months or longer (1, 2). Chronic pain is highly prevalent in persons with opioid use disorder (OUD), and is not sufficiently treated by opioid agonist treatment alone. Persons in methadone maintenance treatment (MMT) and office-based buprenorphine treatment for OUD have high rates of clinically significant chronic pain (37-80% depending on the definition) (3-6). Longitudinal studies have shown that chronic pain during MAT is associated with greater ongoing drug use (7-10), treatment drop out (9, 11) and risk of suicide (12) compared to patients without chronic pain. Together, these studies indicate that in MAT, pain is highly prevalent; MAT alone does not provide adequate analgesic relief; and ongoing pain contributes to worse treatment outcomes, including illicit substance use. Little is known about the behavioral/cognitive processes that may be affected by chronic pain, particularly processes associated with relapse while on MAT.

Delay discounting is the relative preference for smaller sooner over larger later rewards, an aspect of impulsivity. Most individuals would prefer an immediate \$100 over \$100 delayed by 1 year. However, when faced with the choice between receiving \$95 now versus \$100 in 1 year, preferences for the delayed reward may increase. By assessing such choices across multiple delays, delay discounting quantifies the devaluation of rewards over time, which allows for an index of overall discounting rate. Delay discounting models a fundamental decision in substance use disorders (SUD): the smaller immediate reward of drug euphoria, or the delayed but more valuable rewards of improved functioning and life satisfaction that come with prolonged abstinence (14, 15). The finding that individuals with SUD discount more than individuals without SUD has been shown for multiple drugs (16-21), including opioids (22-24). Effects are large and meaningful. For matched controls without OUD, \$1000 lost half its value in 5 years, while it lost 50% of its value in only 6 months for individuals with OUD: a 10-fold difference. Within patients with OUD, greater discounting is associated with increased sharing of injection equipment – an HIV risk factor. Studies in nicotine use disorder show that low delay-discounting predicts success in treatment (25-27), and one study showed a similar trend in MAT (p=.08) (28). Finally, recent research has suggested that aversive states, specifically opioid withdrawal, can further increase rates of discounting (29, 30).

Understanding the cognitive effect of aversive states (e.g. chronic pain) in patients with OUD could provide a potential for time-limited clinical interventions to prevent drug use. One of the seminal researchers in delay discounting (31) has proposed that the attention-focusing property of pain and other aversive stimuli is a result of delay discounting processes (32). Consistent with the hyperbolic bow in the shape of discounting curves (31, 33), pain is postulated to create strong immediate temptation to focus attention on the painful stimulus, at the expense of attention to other consequences, both immediate and delayed. From a cognitive perspective, immediate focus on pain likely leads to a reduced capacity to maintain attention and hold representations of potential future outcomes in

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 9 of 37

working memory. Indeed, decreased attention and working memory load have been shown in chronic pain patients (34, 35). Little empirical research to date has explored the association between pain and discounting, although similar disruptions in central reward and executive control pathways in both patients with chronic pain and SUD provides strong theoretical basis for an association (36). Additionally, previous research has shown an increase in discounting associated with other aversive states including sleep deprivation (37), and importantly, opioid withdrawal (29, 30). In addition, our recent cross-sectional study showed a significant association between delay discounting of pain-specific consequences and risk for opioid misuse in chronic pain patients (38).

Another critical element in the experience of pain that increases attention to painful stimuli, catastrophizing (39, 40), provides an additional theoretical basis for the association between pain and discounting. Pain catastrophizing is a set of negative emotional/cognitive processes involving rumination and pessimism, perceptions of helplessness, and magnification of pain-related symptoms and is measured by the pain catastrophizing scale (PCS; (40)). Catastrophizing occurs during a painful experience or in anticipation of a painful experience. Research suggests that catastrophizing is directly associated with amplification of pain processing and is an etiologic/prognostic factor in several persistent pain syndromes (41-45). The tendency to and intensity of catastrophizing is relatively stable over time (40, 46, 47). Pain catastrophizing has been relatively unexplored in individuals with OUD, but recent clinical reports suggest catastrophizing may be an important psychological risk factor associated with opioid overdose fatalities (48, 49) and has been associated with craving and risk of opioid misuse in chronic pain patients at risk for OUD (50, 51). Given its importance and prognostic value in other chronic pain populations, this gap surrounding the role of catastrophizing in individuals with OUD and chronic pain needs to be filled. An ideal population to examine these associations are methodone-maintained patients, who show extremely high treatment attendance rates and will therefore assure study efficiency and reliable completion. Promising results would be followed up with an R01 application expanding the research, including extension to patients with OUD on buprenorphine and chronic pain patients on daily prescription opioid therapy without OUD but at risk for opioid misuse. By exploring mechanisms leading to impulsive relapse during aversive stimuli, this research may ultimately lead to targeted behavioral, cognitive, and/or pharmacological interventions that alter impulsivity and prevent relapse.

Provide a brief summary of the non-clinical data that has clinical significance.

2 STUDY RATIONALE

There is a great need to understand the cognitive processes underlying illicit opioid use during methadone maintenance treatment for opioid use disorder, especially in patients with co-occurring chronic pain. Ongoing use is associated with increased risk for opioid overdose, treatment drop out and HIV seroconversion/transmission.

2.1 Risk / Benefit Assessment

The purpose of the study is to conduct a Phase 1 clinical trial / human laboratory study to examine the effect of chronic pain alone and in presence of acute opioid withdrawal on

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 10 of 37

delay discounting of money in patients on methadone maintenance for the treatment of OUD. Additionally, this project will examine how pain catastrophizing may modify the association of chronic pain and opioid withdrawal on changes in delay discounting of money. If withdrawal and catastrophizing were found to affect impulsive decision making as assessed by delay discounting, future research could extend the study of these variables to determine if they play an explicitly causal role in decisions to use opioids (relapse). Delay discounting may then be shown to serve as a surrogate endpoint in clinical trials assessing primary or secondary prevention of opioid use disorders. Researchers could develop interventions to remediate impulsivity as assessed by delay discounting, thereby preventing relapse and improving the efficacy of opioid use disorder treatment.

There are no direct benefits to the research participant. The research has the potential to improve the lives of future patients with opioid use disorder by improving treatment retention and reducing risk for overdose deaths.

The impulsivity tasks and assessments present no risks exceeding those of normal everyday experiences, although participants may experience boredom, fatigue, or frustration during as a result of these sessions and other assessments.

The main potential risk involves precipitated opioid withdrawal. Opioid withdrawal is distressing to the individual, but is not life threatening. Symptoms may include nausea, vomiting, diarrhea or loose stools, body aches, dysphoric mood, and gooseflesh. Changes to vital signs, including elevations in pulse and blood pressure, may also occur. OTOP staff members are well trained to recognize and treat these symptoms.

There is a small risk of worsening psychiatric symptoms or substance relapse while undergoing precipitated withdrawal. All attempts will be made to screen out vulnerable individuals, and to ensure that no symptoms of pain or withdrawal remain at the end of sessions. If relapse does occur, we will communicate this information to the outpatient opioid treatment program. Consent to contact the program to verify the methadone dose is a pre-requisite for study participation. If need be, referrals can be made for psychiatric or higher levels of substance abuse treatment, including emergency room psychiatric care at Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital, on the campus where OTOP is located. Suspected psychiatric disorders discovered during screening will be referred for ongoing treatment. If the patient is at OTOP, Dr. Tompkins will provide this service. If at another opioid treatment program, the patient will be referred to a near-by San Francisco mental health treatment provider (Westside Community Service or Dore Urgent Care Center). These clinics offer urgent care, drop-in and ongoing psychiatric treatment for patients regardless of ability to pay. Ancillary, non-opioid medications, and ice packs will also be available to treat residual withdrawal symptoms or pain at end of session.

3 STUDY OBJECTIVES

We hypothesize that the chronic pain group (PAIN) will show greater delay discounting (greater impulsivity) than the group without pain (NO PAIN) in both the control and opioid withdrawal sessions; and that discounting will be greater in the withdrawal session than control session for both groups, with the greatest discounting observed in the PAIN group while in withdrawal.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 11 of 37

We also hypothesize that across PAIN and NO PAIN groups, pain catastrophizing will independently modify the effect of precipitated opioid withdrawal on delay discounting, with higher levels of catastrophizing associated with a stronger association between withdrawal and delay discounting

3.1 Primary Objective

Determine the effect of aversive stressors on delay discounting in persons on methadone maintenance.

3.2 Secondary Objectives

Investigate the degree to which trait pain catastrophizing modifies the association between opioid withdrawal and delay discounting.

4 STUDY DESIGN

4.1 Study Overview

This is an outpatient Phase 1 clinical trial investigating the effect of naloxone precipitated withdrawal on delay discounting. Eligible participants will undergo two experimental sessions presented in random order. One session will involve the measurement of delay discounting 30 minutes after double-blind intramuscular (IM) administration of placebo (normal saline) and the other will have the exact same procedures performed after double-blind IM administration of naloxone (0.1 mg). Injections will occur 2 hours after methadone dosing (peak levels). Study sessions will last 2 hours and involve pain and opioid withdrawal measures assessed at baseline and 15-minute intervals after injections. Sessions will occur at least 48 hours apart.

This is a two-year grant proposal. The first two months will be used for study start-up, the next 20 months for study recruitment and completion of all study visits, and the last two months for data analysis and manuscript preparation. Each participant is expected to participate for 2-4 weeks, depending on scheduling of two sessions.

There are three sites on the campus of Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital where activities will take place. (1) Opiate Treatment Outpatient Program (OTOP). Participant recruitment, data collection and storage, and some study visits will take place at OTOP. (2) Unit 5B in Building 5. ECGs during screening and unblinded study medication preparation. (3) Ward 84 in Building 80. Some study sessions may take place at Ward 84. Johns Hopkins University's Behavioral Pharmacology Research Unit (BPRU) will be the site of data analysis. Johns Hopkins will only have access to de-identified human subject data, and so a central IRB is not needed for this study.

5 CRITERIA FOR EVALUATION

5.1 Primary Efficacy Endpoint

Delay discounting for money will be assessed 30 minutes after study medication IM injection in both experimental sessions. Discount rates (k values) will be assessed with a computer program developed by Dr. Johnson, utilized in a variety of previous studies of delay discounting.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 12 of 37

5.2 Secondary Efficacy Endpoints

Secondary outcome variables will include measures of pain and opioid withdrawal, i.e.

- Pain Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- Clinical Opiate Withdrawal Scale (COWS)
- Subjective Opiate Withdrawal Scale (SOWS)
- Vital Signs
- Pupil Diameter
- VAS Ratings of Subjective Drug Effects

In addition, personality questionnaires assessing impulsivity will be collected at screening and compared across groups, including

- Barratt Impulsivity Scale-11
- · Eysenck Impulsivity Questionnaire
- Sensation Seeking Scale
- Zimbardo Time Perspective Inventory

In addition, pain catastrophizing will be assessed and will be a main predictor variable in the linear regression models assessing effect modification in study Aim 2.

5.3 Safety Evaluations

- Incidence of adverse events
- Change in vital signs from baseline

6 SUBJECT SELECTION

6.1 Study Population

The participants will be adult persons (age 18-65) with opioid use disorder who are currently maintained on a stable methadone maintenance dose. Half (50) of the completers will have chronic pain (PAIN group) and half will be pain free (NO PAIN group). Otherwise, the participants will be healthy enough (as determined by medical history, physical, and EKG) for study entry. Participants will be required to abstain from illicit substances and alcohol throughout the trial.

It is estimated that approximately 200 persons will have an in-person screening to enroll 130 participants on methadone maintenance that meet all inclusion/exclusion criteria. We will need 100 completers to have the necessary power to perform our statistical analysis, 50 persons in the PAIN group and 50 persons in the NO PAIN group.

6.2 Inclusion Criteria

- Male and female adults aged 18-65
- Stable methadone dose (at least 21 days) verified by contacting participant's opioid treatment program
- Understand and speak English
- Urine toxicology screen negative for drugs of abuse and positive for methadone
- Must be without by signs of intoxication as evidenced by ability to receive full dose of methadone prior to research activities

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 13 of 37

 Presence of chronic pain (>3 months) for the PAIN group and absence of pain for the NO PAIN group

6.3 Exclusion Criteria

- Unstable psychiatric illness as assessed by the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (e.g. active suicidal ideation, psychosis)
- Unstable medical illness as assessed by the study's independent medical monitor (e.g. uncontrolled hypertension, recent myocardial infarction, recent stroke, unstable angina) that may be affected by precipitated withdrawal
- Prescription opioid use besides methadone
- Acute pain process unrelated to chronic pain
- Women who are pregnant or lactating
- Known allergy to naloxone.

Patients will be allowed to re-screen if it is expected that an inclusion criterion not met or an exclusion criterion met will change prior to the end of study recruitment.

7 CONCURRENT MEDICATIONS

All subjects should be maintained on the same dose of methadone throughout participation in the trial.

7.1 Allowed Medications and Treatments

Ancillary, non-opioid medications, and ice pack will also be available to treat residual withdrawal symptoms or pain at session end.

7.2 Prohibited Medications and Treatments

The following medications are prohibited during the study and administration will be considered a protocol violation.

• Other opioid analgesic agents other than methadone.

8 STUDY MEDICATIONS

8.1 Method of Assigning Subjects to PAIN or NO PAIN Groups

Patients with chronic pain will be identified by self-report and confirmed by history and physical performed by Dr. Tompkins or another qualified study clinician. Pain will be assessed using the miscellaneous pain questionnaire from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES; (83)), the Widespread Pain Index, and the Brief Pain Inventory. Dr. Claudia Campbell will be consulted on challenging cases to help clarify the presence or absence of chronic pain.

8.2 Blinding

Due to the objectives of the study, the identity of test and control treatments will not be known to investigators, research staff, or participants. The following study procedures will be in place to ensure double-blind administration of study medications.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 14 of 37

- Access to the randomization code will be strictly controlled.
- The volume and color of IM medication administration will be the same for naloxone and placebo
- Packaging and labeling of naloxone and placebo will be identical to maintain the blind.

The study blind will be broken on completion of the clinical study and after the study database has been locked.

The order of sessions with exact study medications will be given to Dr. Tompkins in a sealed envelope and kept in a locked file cabinet. This envelope will be readily available for un-blinding in case of medical emergency. The envelope will be destroyed by Dr. Tompkins after participant has completed study participation.

8.3 Formulation of Naloxone and Placebo

IDS pharmacy staff will be in charge of purchasing study medications (naloxone and placebo (0.9% normal saline)) from commercial sources. The final amount of each injection will be the same, not to exceed 0.5 mL per injection. Unblinded nursing staff on Unit 5B will draw up the study medication and provide to study staff, ensuring packaging and labeling are identical.

8.4 Supply of Study Drug at the Site

IDS pharmacy will order and maintain the supply of all study medications. They will follow all applicable regulations and policies for ordering, procurement, storage, dispensing and destroying unused medication. Study medication will be prepared and provided to Dr. Tompkins' staff prior to each session by unblinded Unit 5B nursing staff.

8.4.1 Dosage/Dosage Regimen

Naloxone 0.1 mg will be given via IM injection, preferably in the Deltoid region. The total volume will not exceed 0.5 mL per injection. Naloxone is a MOR antagonist that had FDA approval to be used to reverse opioid toxicity and is routinely used in experimental studies to induced mild opioid withdrawal symptoms (Strain et al., 1995, Strain et al., 1992; Mendelson et al., 1997; Kanof et al., 1991). In addition, one pre-clinical study in female stumptailed macaques maintained on morphine showed 0.1 mg naloxone administration elicited behaviors consistent with mild opioid withdrawal (Grant et al., 1988). Normal saline will be used as placebo and will also be administered via IM injection. The total volume of placebo will be equal to naloxone injection, not to exceed 0.5 mL per injection.

8.4.2 Dispensing

The IDS pharmacy staff will dispense the medications to Unit 5B nursing staff who will then draw up study medication and label to ensure blinding. Dr. Tompkins' staff will receive study medication from Unit 5B nursing staff and then administer it in Ward 95 per protocol. If the session is cancelled or rescheduled, study medication will be returned to IDS pharmacy staff for destruction according to all applicable regulations and policies.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 15 of 37

8.4.3 Administration Instructions

Prior to session commencing, participants must give a UDS that is positive for methadone and negative for illicit substances and other prescription opioids. In addition, the participant must not have any signs of intoxication and meet pain parameters described in the inclusion / exclusion criteria. During the COVID-19 pandemic, participants must also screen negative per hospital policy to be allowed into Ward 95 to begin study sessions. Lastly, the participant will smoke 1 cigarette 20 minutes prior to injection. Dr. Tompkins or another qualified and licensed medical clinician will administer the IM injection in the deltoid muscle of the participant. The injection will occur two hours after their daily methadone dose was given.

8.5 Study Medication Accountability

An accurate and current accounting of the dispensing and return of study drug for each subject will be maintained on an ongoing basis by a member of the IDS pharmacy service.

9 STUDY PROCEDURES AND GUIDELINES

Prior to conducting any study-related activities, written informed consent and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) authorization must be signed and dated by the subject.

9.1 Clinical Assessments

9.1.1 Concomitant Medications

All concomitant medication and concurrent therapies will be documented at Baseline/Screening and at each session. Dose, route, unit frequency of administration, and indication for administration and dates of medication will be captured.

9.1.2 Demographics

Demographic information (date of birth, gender, race) will be recorded at Screening.

9.1.3 Medical History

Relevant medical history, including history of current disease, other pertinent respiratory history, and information regarding underlying diseases will be recorded at Screening.

9.1.4 Physical Examination

A complete physical examination will be performed by either the investigator or a subinvestigator who is a physician at Screening.

9.1.5 Vital Signs

Blood pressure, pulse and respirations will be performed after resting for 5 minutes at Screening and at beginning of each session. During sessions, blood pressure, pulse and respirations will be measured every 15 minutes up until two hours after IM injection of study medication.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 16 of 37

9.1.6 Oximetry

Oximetry will be measured on room air with the subject at rest at Screening, at the baseline of each session and every 15 minutes during sessions up until two hours after IM injection of study medication.

9.1.7 Adverse Events

Information regarding occurrence of adverse events will be captured throughout the study. Duration (start and stop dates and times), severity/grade, outcome, treatment and relation to study drug will be recorded on the case report form (CRF).

9.2 Clinical Laboratory Measurements

9.2.1 Pregnancy Test

A urine pregnancy test will be obtained from female subjects who are of childbearing age prior to their participation in the study (Screening) and before each study session.

9.2.2 Urine drug screen

Urine will be collected for urine drug screen at screening and on each session day. Methadone must be positive. Although current illicit drug use is not exclusionary, participants will be informed they will need to have negative urine drug screen at beginning of each session.

9.2.3 Breathalyzer

Participants will provide a breath alcohol test at screening and on each session day. Results must be 0.00 to complete screening and to begin sessions.

9.3 Pupilometer

Pupil diameter is one of the most sensitive measures of opioid withdrawal activity. Pupil diameter will be collected with a pupilometer in ambient room light (NeurOptics, Irvine, California) at baseline and every 15 minutes during sessions up until two hours after IM injection of study medication.

9.4 Impulsivity Measures

9.4.1 Delay Discounting

Delay discounting is the relative preference for smaller sooner over larger later rewards, an aspect of impulsivity. Most individuals would prefer an immediate \$100 over \$100 delayed by 1 year. However, when faced with the choice between receiving \$95 now versus \$100 in 1 year, preferences for the delayed reward may increase. By assessing such choices across multiple delays, delay discounting quantifies the devaluation of rewards over time, which allows for an index of overall discounting rate (k). Delay discounting will be measured 30 minutes after IM injection during each session.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 17 of 37

9.4.2 Validated trait impulsivity measures.

Participants will also be assessed for trait impulsivity using four personality questionnaires assessing impulsivity or closely related constructs during screening. Scales will include the Barratt Impulsivity Scale-11 (85, 86); the Eysenck Impulsivity Questionnaire (87); the Sensation Seeking Scale (88); and the Zimbardo Time Perspective Inventory (89).

9.5 Opioid Withdrawal Measures

These measures are very familiar to the PI (Dr. Tompkins) and utilize standard tools that will be collected by trained research staff. In each session, the opioid withdrawal measures will be collected at baseline and every 15 minutes following IM injection. They include the COWS (23, 107); Subjective Opiate Withdrawal Scale (SOWS) (24), and VAS ratings of subjective drug effects (108, 109).

The COWS is an 11-item rating system that is completed by a trained observer. Total scores range from 0 to 47, and withdrawal is classified as mild (5–12), moderate (13–24), moderately severe (25–36), or severe (>36).

The SOWS is a self-report instrument that asks participants to rate their level of current opioid withdrawal on 16 symptoms using a 5-point Likert scale (Not At All to Extremely). Answers to the 16 items are summed for a total score.

There are six VASs of subjective drug effects: high, drug effect, good effects, bad effects, liking, and sick. Each scale is a 100-point line anchored at one end with "not at all," and at the other with "extremely." The participant positions an arrow along the line using the keypad to indicate his or her answer of how s/he is feeling at that moment.

9.6 Pain Measures

9.6.1 Pain VAS

Ratings are completed on a computer; using a mouse. The participant positions an arrow along a 100 mm line marked at either end with "none" and "worst pain imaginable." Ratings will be collected at Screening, session baseline and every 15 minutes during sessions up until two hours after IM injection of study medication.

9.6.2 Pain Catastrophizing Scale

The Pain Catastrophizing Scale (PCS) is a 13-item scale that assesses important affective and cognitive aspects of pain.43 The PCS instructions asked participants to reflect on past painful experiences and to indicate the degree to which they experienced a particular thought or feeling when experiencing pain. Responses were rated on a 5-point scale from 0 ("Not at All") to 4 ("All the Time"). Pain Catastrophizing Scale scores range from 0 to 52, with higher scores indicating heightened distress responses when exposed to aversive stimuli. The PCS will be measured in Session 1.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 18 of 37

9.6.3 Brief Pain Inventory – Short Form

The BPI (94) is a 9 item self-report questionnaire used to evaluate the severity of a patient's pain and the impact of this pain on the patient's daily functioning. The patient is asked to rate their worst, least, average, and current pain intensity, list current treatments and their perceived effectiveness, and rate the degree that pain interferes with general activity, mood, walking ability, normal work, relations with other persons, sleep, and enjoyment of life on a 10 point scale. The BPI will be used at screening to screen for the presence or absence of chronic pain. Additionally, BPI "pain right now" VAS will be asked at beginning of each session. This score must be 0 for patients with NO PAIN or the session will be rescheduled. PAIN group persons must report similar levels of pain each session (i.e., the BPI "pain right now" score at session 2 must be +/-20% of the "pain right now" score at session 1; PAIN group persons cannot have a "pain right now" score of 0) or the session will be rescheduled.

9.6.4 Pain Assessments

Pain will be assessed using the miscellaneous pain questionnaire from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES; (83)) and the Widespread Pain Index.

9.6.5 Insomnia Assessment

The Insomnia Severity Index is a brief validated instrument that measures nighttime and daytime aspects of insomnia (84). Scores 15+ indicate clinical insomnia that is at least moderate in severity. Persons found to have clinical insomnia will be referred for further evaluation and possible treatment by their primary care provider and/or their methadone maintenance medical team.

9.7 Psychiatric Assessments

The Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview will be conducted by Dr. Tompkins during screening to rule out persons with suicidal ideation or psychosis. In addition, the following scales will also be measured at Session 1: PHQ-15 (3) which provides a measure of somatization), PHQ-9 (4) which measures depressive symptoms, and GAD-7 (5) which measures anxiety symptoms.

10 EVALUATIONS BY VISIT

10.1 Visit 1 (Screening)

- 1. Review the study with the subject and obtain written informed consent and HIPAA authorization
- Assign the subject a unique screening number
- 3. Collect urine for urine drug screen (and pregnancy test if female)
- 4. Collect ROI for opioid treatment program
- Record demographics data
- 6. Record medical history
- Record drug use history
- Record concomitant medications

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 19 of 37

- 9. Perform a complete physical examination
- 10. Perform and record vital signs
- 11. Perform and record oximetry
- Perform and record EKG
- 13. Perform and record MINI
- 14. Perform and record BPI
- 15. Perform and record NHANES Miscellaneous Pain Questionnaire
- 16. Perform and record Widespread Pain Index
- 17. Perform and record BPI
- 18. Schedule subject for Visit 2 (Session 1) as appropriate.
- 19. Randomize subject

10.2 Visits 2-3 (Sessions 1-2)

- 1. Record any Adverse Experiences
- Concomitant medications review
- 3. Collect Urine for UDS (and pregnancy test if female)
- Perform and record "pain right now" VAS from BPI
- 5. Record time of methadone dosing (confirm by reviewing Methasoft EHR)
- 6. Perform and record baseline values of
 - a. Vital signs
 - b. Oximetry
 - c. Pupilometer
 - d. COWS
 - e. SOWS
 - f. Pain VAS
- 7. If smoker, allow participant to smoke 20 minutes prior to study drug administration
- 8. Administer IM study drug. Record on progress note.
- 9. For every 15 minutes until two hours after IM injection, measure
 - a. Vital signs
 - b. Oximetry
 - c. Pupilometer
 - d. COWS
 - e. SOWS
 - f. Pain VAS
 - g. Subjective drug effect VASs

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 20 of 37

- 10. 30 minutes after study drug administration, perform and record delay discounting task
- Perform and record PCS
- 12. Perform and record PHQ-15
- 13. Perform and record GAD-7
- 14. Perform and record PHQ-9
- 15. Perform and record Barratt Impulsivity Scale-11
- 16. Perform and record Eysenck Impulsivity Questionnaire
- 17. Perform and record Sensation Seeking Scale
- 18. Perform and record Zimbardo Time Perspective Inventory
- 19. Perform and record Insomnia Severity Index

11 ADVERSE EXPERIENCE REPORTING AND DOCUMENTATION

11.1 Adverse Events

An adverse event (AE) is any untoward medical occurrence in a clinical investigation of a patient administered a pharmaceutical product and that does not necessarily have a causal relationship with the treatment. An AE is therefore any unfavorable and unintended sign (including an abnormal laboratory finding), symptom or disease temporally associated with the administration of an investigational product, whether or not related to that investigational product. An unexpected AE is one of a type not identified in nature, severity, or frequency in the current Investigator's Brochure or of greater severity or frequency than expected based on the information in the Investigator's Brochure.

The Investigator will probe, via discussion with the subject, for the occurrence of AEs during each subject visit and record the information in the site's source documents. Adverse events will be recorded in the patient CRF. Adverse events will be described by duration (start and stop dates and times), severity, outcome, treatment and relation to study drug, or if unrelated, the cause.

AE Severity

The National Cancer Institute's Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) Version 3.0 should be used to assess and grade AE severity, including laboratory abnormalities judged to be clinically significant. The modified criteria can be found in the study manual. If the experience is not covered in the modified criteria, the guidelines shown in Table 1 below should be used to grade severity. It should be pointed out that the term "severe" is a measure of intensity and that a severe AE is not necessarily serious.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 21 of 37

Table 1. AE Severity Grading

| Severity (Toxicity Grade) | Description |
|---------------------------|---|
| Mild (1) | Transient or mild discomfort; no limitation in activity; no medical intervention or therapy required. The subject may be aware of the sign or symptom but tolerates it reasonably well. |
| Moderate (2) | Mild to moderate limitation in activity, no or minimal medical intervention/therapy required. |
| Severe (3) | Marked limitation in activity, medical intervention/therapy required, hospitalizations possible. |
| Life-threatening (4) | The subject is at risk of death due to the adverse experience as it occurred. This does not refer to an experience that hypothetically might have caused death if it were more severe. |

AE Relationship to Study Drug

The relationship of an AE to the study drug should be assessed using the following the guidelines in Table 2.

Table 2. AE Relationship to Study Drug

| Relationship to Drug | Comment |
|-------------------------|---|
| Definitely | Previously known toxicity of agent; or an event that follows a reasonable temporal sequence from administration of the drug; that follows a known or expected response pattern to the suspected drug; that is confirmed by stopping or reducing the dosage of the drug; and that is not explained by any other reasonable hypothesis. |
| Probably | An event that follows a reasonable temporal sequence from administration of the drug; that follows a known or expected response pattern to the suspected drug; that is confirmed by stopping or reducing the dosage of the drug; and that is unlikely to be explained by the known characteristics of the subject's clinical state or by other interventions. |
| Possibly | An event that follows a reasonable temporal sequence from administration of the drug; that follows a known or expected response pattern to that suspected drug; but that could readily have been produced by a number of other factors. |
| Unrelated | An event that can be determined with certainty to have no relationship to the study drug. |

11.2 Serious Adverse Experiences (SAE)

An SAE is defined as any AE occurring at any dose that results in any of the following outcomes:

- death
- a life-threatening adverse experience
- inpatient hospitalization or prolongation of existing hospitalization
- a persistent or significant disability/incapacity

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 22 of 37

a congenital anomaly/birth defect

Other important medical events may also be considered an SAE when, based on appropriate medical judgment, they jeopardize the subject or require intervention to prevent one of the outcomes listed.

11.2.1 Serious Adverse Experience Reporting

Study sites will document all SAEs that occur (whether or not related to study drug) per <u>UCSF CHR Guidelines</u>. The collection period for all SAEs will begin after informed consent is obtained and end after procedures for the final study visit have been completed.

In accordance with the standard operating procedures and policies of the local Institutional Review Board (IRB)/Independent Ethics Committee (IEC), the site investigator will report SAEs to the IRB/IEC.

11.3 Medical Monitoring

Dr. Scott Steiger should be contacted directly at these numbers to report medical concerns or questions regarding safety.

Phone: 628-206-6479 Cell: 206-375-8840

12 DISCONTINUATION AND REPLACEMENT OF SUBJECTS

12.1 Withdrawal of Subjects

A subject may be discontinued from study treatment at any time if the subject or the investigator feels that it is not in the subject's best interest to continue. The following is a list of possible reasons for study treatment discontinuation:

- Subject withdrawal of consent
- Subject is not compliant with study procedures
- Adverse event that in the opinion of the investigator would be in the best interest of the subject to discontinue study treatment
- Recurrent intoxication or + UDS
- Lost to follow-up
- Positive pregnancy test (females)
- Change in methadone dose between Sessions 1 & 2
- +COVID-19 test or inability to enter Ward 95 due to screening positive for COVID-19 symptoms/recent exposure

If a subject is withdrawn from treatment due to an adverse event, the subject will be followed by the Investigator until the abnormal parameter or symptom has resolved or stabilized.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 23 of 37

All subjects are free to withdraw from participation at any time, for any reason, specified or unspecified, and without prejudice.

Reasonable attempts will be made by the investigator to provide a reason for subject withdrawals. The reason for the subject's withdrawal from the study will be specified in the subject's source documents.

12.2 Replacement of Subjects

Subjects who withdraw from the study will not be replaced.

13 PROTOCOL VIOLATIONS

A protocol violation occurs when the subject or investigator fails to adhere to significant protocol requirements affecting the inclusion, exclusion, subject safety and primary endpoint criteria. Protocol violations for this study include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Failure to meet inclusion/exclusion criteria
- Use of a prohibited concomitant medication

Failure to comply with Good Clinical Practice (GCP) guidelines will also result in a protocol violation. The PI will determine if a protocol violation will result in withdrawal of a subject.

When a protocol violation occurs, it will be discussed with the investigator and a Protocol Violation Form detailing the violation will be generated. This form will be signed by the PI. A copy of the form will be filed in the site's regulatory binder.

14 STATISTICAL METHODS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Prior to the analysis of the final study data, a detailed Statistical Analysis Plan (SAP) will be written describing all analyses that will be performed. The SAP will contain any modifications to the analysis plan described below.

14.1 Data Sets Analyzed

All eligible patients who are randomized into the study and receive at least one dose of the study drug (the Safety Population) will be included in the safety analysis.

Completer analysis will be the data collected for all of the completers (N=100 expected).

14.2 Demographic and Baseline Characteristics

The PAIN and NO PAIN groups will be compared on all matching variables (methadone dose, cigarettes smoked per day, annual income, years of education, and age) using t-tests and chi-square tests as appropriate. If statistically significant differences are detected despite efforts to match during recruitment, matching variables will be included as covariates in subsequent analyses. It is recognized that this method is inferior to formal matching; therefore, substantial effort will be devoted to locating appropriately matched individuals. Measures obtained at 15-minute intervals during each session (pain, vital signs, opioid withdrawal, etc.) will be examined in terms of group comparability and to

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 24 of 37

confirm that naloxone precipitated withdrawal symptoms compared to placebo. All psychometric, scaled measures will be scored according to standardized algorithms and internal consistency reliability examined. Given the design of the study, unit level missing data is not anticipated. Item level missing data will be minimized through supervised administration of measures. Missing data patterns will be examined and multiple imputation (SAS PROC MI) or other strategies employed as appropriate. Using methods developed by co-I Johnson, nonlinear regression will be used to calculate individual values of k, larger k values indicate greater discounting or more impulsiveness. K values are normalized using log transformation for parametric analysis (45).

14.3 Analysis of Primary Endpoint

The primary hypotheses are that participants with chronic pain (PAIN) are more impulsive (larger k values) than participants without pain (NO PAIN) and that, within the same individual, k values will be larger in the naloxone-precipitated opioid withdrawal session compared to placebo. We will test these hypotheses using repeated measures analyses implemented in SAS PROC MIXED. The dependent variable is k (discounting). Independent variables include Group (PAIN vs. NO PAIN), a fixed, between-subjects effect and Condition (control vs. withdrawal), a repeated, within-subjects effect. The Group x Condition interaction will be examined to determine if group differences vary by condition. Planned contrasts will explore additive effects of chronic pain and withdrawal by examining whether discounting by the PAIN group in the withdrawal condition is greater than 1) discounting by the PAIN group in the control condition, or 2) discounting by the NO PAIN group in the withdrawal condition. To examine the effect of differing levels of peak aversive stimuli on discounting, we will conduct analyses using only data from the naloxone-precipitated withdrawal session that include peak COWS scores.

14.4 Analysis of Secondary Endpoints

First, general linear model analyses (SAS PROC GLM) will be conducted to independently examine the impact of Condition and Pain Catastrophizing (PCS) on discounting rate (k). Then, a single GLM analysis will be conducted that includes Condition, PCS, and the Condition–by-PCS interaction. A significant interaction will indicate effect modification. We will also examine the effect of biological sex on discounting, opioid withdrawal, pain VAS, and pain catastrophizing. Based on prior research, we expect females to have higher PCS scores. We will also explore how the type of chronic pain (musculoskeletal, neuropathic, mixed/other) will effect discounting. We will also explore associations between somatization (SCL-90), depression (PHQ-9) and anxiety (GAD-7) and discounting. ng.

Safety and tolerability data will be summarized by study medication.

Adverse event rates will be coded by body system and MedDra classification term. Adverse events will be tabulated by study medication and will include the number of patients for whom the event occurred, the rate of occurrence, and the severity and relationship to study drug.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 25 of 37

14.5 Interim Analysis

Researchers will look at the data from the first 10 completers. If there is no trend of differences in delay discounting between placebo and naloxone administration sessions, we would discuss with our NIDA program official and independent medical monitor (Dr. Scott Steiger) on the following two options: increasing the dose of naloxone to 0.15 mg or administering 0.1 mg naloxone at trough instead of peak methadone levels.

14.6 Sample Size and Randomization

Because the within subject effect size of discounting changes associated with naloxone precipitated withdrawal are empirically unknown, an expected effect size of f^2 =.02 was assumed based on a study by Dr. Johnson (consortium PI) showing that five days of cigarette smoking abstinence in nicotine-dependent individuals decreased discounting rates (93). This effect size was selected because it came from a study conducted by a study investigator showing a within-subject change in discounting for money, similar to the delay discounting outcome in the proposed study. The effect size for between subject differences in discounting between the PAIN and NO PAIN groups is expected to be f^2 =.08 for two reasons. First, the pilot data correlation between pain and discounting (rho=.25) suggests an effect size of small to medium magnitude by convention (110). Second, three previously reported effect sizes for studies comparing opioid and tobacco dependent participants to non-dependent participants (100) show larger effects sizes of approximately f^2 =.4. If between subject differences in the proposed study are of this larger magnitude, then sample size based on f^2 =.08 will provide more than sufficient power to detect a group difference in delay discounting rates.

15 DATA COLLECTION, RETENTION AND MONITORING

15.1 Data Collection Instruments

The Investigator will prepare and maintain adequate and accurate source documents designed to record all observations and other pertinent data for each subject treated with the study drug. Study personnel at each site will enter data from source documents corresponding to a subject's visit into the protocol-specific electronic Case Report Form (eCRF) OR paper CRF when the information corresponding to that visit is available. Subjects will not be identified by name in the study database or on any study documents to be collected by the Sponsor (or designee), but will be identified by a site number, subject number and initials.

For eCRFs: If a correction is required for an eCRF, the time and date stamps track the person entering or updating eCRF data and creates an electronic audit trail. *For paper CRFs*: If a correction is made on a CRF, the study staff member will line through the incorrect data, write in the correct data and initial and date the change.

The Investigator is responsible for all information collected on subjects enrolled in this study. All data collected during the course of this study must be reviewed and verified for completeness and accuracy by the Investigator. A copy of the CRF will remain at the Investigator's site at the completion of the study.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 26 of 37

15.2 Data Management Procedures

The data will be entered into a validated database. The Data Management group will be responsible for data processing, in accordance with procedural documentation. Database lock will occur once quality assurance procedures have been completed.

All procedures for the handling and analysis of data will be conducted using good computing practices meeting FDA guidelines for the handling and analysis of data for clinical trials.

15.3 Data Quality Control and Reporting

After data have been entered into the study database, a system of computerized data validation checks will be implemented and applied to the database on a regular basis. The study database will be updated in accordance with the resolved queries. All changes to the study database will be documented.

15.4 Archival of Data

The database is safeguarded against unauthorized access by established security procedures; appropriate backup copies of the database and related software files will be maintained. Databases are backed up by the database administrator in conjunction with any updates or changes to the database.

At critical junctures of the protocol (e.g., production of interim reports and final reports), data for analysis is locked and cleaned per established procedures.

15.5 Availability and Retention of Investigational Records

The Investigator must make study data accessible to the monitor, other authorized representatives of the Sponsor (or designee), IRB/IEC, and Regulatory Agency (e.g., FDA) inspectors upon request. A file for each subject must be maintained that includes the signed Informed Consent, HIPAA Authorization and Assent Form and copies of all source documentation related to that subject. The Investigator must ensure the reliability and availability of source documents from which the information on the CRF was derived.

All study documents (patient files, signed informed consent forms, copies of CRFs, Study File Notebook, etc.) must be kept secured for a period determined by UCSF and NIH guidelines.

15.6 Subject Confidentiality

In order to maintain subject confidentiality, only a subject number and subject initials will identify all study subjects on CRFs and other documentation submitted to the Sponsor.

16 ADMINISTRATIVE, ETHICAL, REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS

The study will be conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki, Protection of Human Volunteers (21 CFR 50), Institutional Review Boards (21 CFR 56), and Obligations of Clinical Investigators (21 CFR 312).

To maintain confidentiality, all laboratory specimens, evaluation forms, reports and other records will be identified by a coded number and initials only. All study records will be

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 27 of 37

kept in a locked file cabinet and code sheets linking a patient's name to a patient identification number will be stored separately in another locked file cabinet. Clinical information will not be released without written permission of the subject, except as necessary for monitoring by the FDA. The Investigator must also comply with all applicable privacy regulations (e.g., Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996).

16.1 Protocol Amendments

Any amendment to the protocol will be written by the Sponsor. Protocol amendments cannot be implemented without prior written IRB/IEC approval except as necessary to eliminate immediate safety hazards to patients. A protocol amendment intended to eliminate an apparent immediate hazard to patients may be implemented immediately, provided the IRBs are notified within five working days.

16.2 Institutional Review Boards and Independent Ethics Committees

The protocol and consent form will be reviewed and approved by the IRB/IEC of each participating center prior to study initiation. Serious adverse experiences regardless of causality will be reported to the IRB/IEC in accordance with the standard operating procedures and policies of the IRB/IEC, and the Investigator will keep the IRB/IEC informed as to the progress of the study. The Investigator will obtain assurance of IRB/IEC compliance with regulations.

Any documents that the IRB/IEC may need to fulfill its responsibilities (such as protocol, protocol amendments, Investigator's Brochure, consent forms, information concerning patient recruitment, payment or compensation procedures, or other pertinent information) will be submitted to the IRB/IEC. The IRB/IECs written unconditional approval of the study protocol and the informed consent form will be in the possession of the Investigator before the study is initiated. Protocol and/or informed consent modifications or changes may not be initiated without prior written IRB/IEC approval except when necessary to eliminate immediate hazards to the patients or when the change(s) involves only logistical or administrative aspects of the study. Such modifications will be submitted to the IRB/IEC and written verification that the modification was submitted and subsequently approved should be obtained.

The IRB/IEC must be informed of revisions to other documents originally submitted for review; serious and/or unexpected adverse experiences occurring during the study in accordance with the standard operating procedures and policies of the IRB; new information that may affect adversely the safety of the patients of the conduct of the study; an annual update and/or request for re-approval; and when the study has been completed.

16.3 Informed Consent Form

Informed consent will be obtained in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, ICH GCP, US Code of Federal Regulations for Protection of Human Subjects (21 CFR 50.25[a,b], CFR 50.27, and CFR Part 56, Subpart A), the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA, if applicable), and local regulations.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 28 of 37

The Investigator will prepare the informed consent form, assent and HIPAA authorization and provide the documents to the Sponsor or designee for approval prior to submission to the IRB/IEC. The consent form generated by the Investigator must be acceptable to the Sponsor and be approved by the IRB/IEC. The written consent document will embody the elements of informed consent as described in the International Conference on Harmonisation and will also comply with local regulations. The Investigator will send an IRB/IEC-approved copy of the Informed Consent Form to the Sponsor (or designee) for the study file.

A properly executed, written, informed consent will be obtained from each subject prior to entering the subject into the trial. Information should be given in both oral and written form and subjects must be given ample opportunity to inquire about details of the study. A copy of the signed consent form (and assent) will be given to the subject and the original will be maintained with the subject's records.

16.4 Publications

The publication or presentation of any study results shall comply with all applicable privacy laws, including, but not limited to, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996.

16.5 Investigator Responsibilities

By signing the Agreement of Investigator form, the Investigator agrees to:

- Conduct the study in accordance with the protocol and only make changes after notifying the Sponsor (or designee), except when to protect the safety, rights or welfare of subjects.
- 2. Personally conduct or supervise the study (or investigation).
- 3. Ensure that the requirements relating to obtaining informed consent and IRB review and approval meet federal guidelines, as stated in § 21 CFR, parts 50 and 56.
- 4. Ensure that all associates, colleagues and employees assisting in the conduct of the study are informed about their obligations in meeting the above commitments.
- 5. Maintain adequate and accurate records in accordance with §21 CFR 312.62 and to make those records available for inspection with the Sponsor (or designee).
- 6. Ensure that an IRB that complies with the requirements of §21 CFR part 56 will be responsible for initial and continuing review and approval of the clinical study.
- 7. Promptly report to the IRB all changes in the research activity and all unanticipated problems involving risks to subjects or others.
- 8. Seek IRB approval before any changes are made in the research study, except when necessary to eliminate hazards to the patients/subjects.
- 9. Comply with all other requirements regarding the obligations of clinical investigators and all other pertinent requirements listed in § 21 CFR part 312.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 29 of 37

17 REFERENCES CITED

- 1. Dunn KE, Brooner RK, Clark MR. Severity and interference of chronic pain in methadone-maintained outpatients. *Pain Med.* 2014; 15(9): 1540-1548. PMID: 24703517
- 2. Barry DT, Pilver CE, Hoff RA, Potenza MN. Pain interference and incident mood, anxiety, and substance-use disorders: Findings from a representative sample of men and women in the general population. *J Psychiatr Res.* 2013 Nov; 47(11): 1658-1664. PMCID: PMC3835154
- 3. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-15: validity of a new measure for evaluating the severity of somatic symptoms. *Psychosomatic Medicine*. 2002 Mar 1;64(2):258-66.
- 4. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: Validity of a brief depression severity measure. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2001 Sep; 16(9): 606-613.
- 5. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Lowe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med.* 2006 May 22; 166(10): 1092-1097.
- 6. Garnet B, Beitel M, Cutter CJ, Savant J, Peters S, Schottenfeld RS, Barry DT. Pain catastrophizing and pain coping among methadone-maintained patients. *Pain Med.* 2011 Jan; 12(1): 79-86. PMCID: PMC3059771
- 7. Rassu FS, Linsenbardt HR, Fields SA, Meagher MW. Does pain affect preference? The effect of tonic laboratory pain on discounting of delayed rewards. *J Pain*. 2018 Sep; 19(9): 962-972. PMID: 29601897
- 8. Worley MJ, Heinzerling KG, Shoptaw S, Ling W. Pain volatility and prescription opioid addiction treatment outcomes in patients with chronic pain. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2015 Dec; 23(6): 428-435. PMCID: PMC4658240
- 9. Forsythe LP, Thorn B, Day M, Shelby G. Race and sex differences in primary appraisals, catastrophizing, and experimental pain outcomes. *J Pain*. 2011 May; 12(5): 563-572. PMID: 21277836
- 10. Wijnhoven HA, de Vet HC, Picavet HS. Explaining sex differences in chronic musculoskeletal pain in a general population. *Pain*. 2006; 124(1): 158-166.
- 11. Trescot AM, Helm S, Hansen H, Benyamin R, Glaser SE, Adlaka R, Patel S, Manchikanti L. Opioids in the management of chronic non-cancer pain: An update of American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians' (ASIPP) guidelines. *Pain Physician*. 2008 Mar; 11(2 Suppl): S62.
- 12. Verhaak PF, Kerssens JJ, Dekker J, Sorbi MJ, Bensing JM. Prevalence of chronic benign pain disorder among adults: A review of the literature. *Pain*. 1998 Sep; 77(3): 231-239.
- 13. Rosenblum A, Joseph H, Fong C, Kipnis S, Cleland C, Portenoy RK. Prevalence and characteristics of chronic pain among chemically dependent patients in methadone maintenance and residential treatment facilities. *JAMA*. 2003 May 14; 289(18): 2370-2378.
- 14. Dhingra L, Masson C, Perlman DC, Seewald RM, Katz J, McKnight C, Homel P, Wald E, Jordan AE, Young C, Portenoy RK. Epidemiology of pain among outpatients in methadone maintenance treatment programs. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2013 Feb 1; 128(1-2): 161-165. PMCID: PMC3546120
- 15. Jamison RN, Kauffman J, Katz NP. Characteristics of methadone maintenance patients with chronic pain. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2000 Jan; 19(1): 53-62.
- 16. Griffin ML, McDermott KA, McHugh RK, Fitzmaurice GM, Jamison RN, Weiss RD. Longitudinal association between pain severity and subsequent opioid use in prescription

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 30 of 37

- opioid dependent patients with chronic pain. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2016 Jun 1; 163: 216-221. PMCID: PMC4880512.
- 17. Caldeiro RM, Malte CA, Calsyn DA, Baer JS, Nichol P, Kivlahan DR, Saxon AJ. The association of persistent pain with out-patient addiction treatment outcomes and service utilization. *Addiction*. 2008 Dec; 103(12): 1996-2005. PMID: 18855809.
- 18. Potter JS, Chakrabarti A, Domier CP, Hillhouse MP, Weiss RD, Ling W. Pain and continued opioid use in individuals receiving buprenorphine-naloxone for opioid detoxification: Secondary analyses from the clinical trials network. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. 2010 Jun; 38 Suppl 1: 80. PMCID: PMC3150507.
- 19. Tompkins DA, Umbricht A, Winstanley E, Bigelow GE. In: The relationship between pain and treatment outcome during methadone maintenance: A prospective study. 2010 College on Problems of Drug Dependence annual meeting; June 17, 2010; Scottsdale, AZ. 20. Sandra Nordmann, Antoine Vilotitch, Caroline Lions, Laurent Michel, Marion Mora, Bruno Spire, Gwenaelle Maradan, Marc-Karim Bendiane, Alain Morel, Perrine Roux, Patrizia Carrieri, ANRS Methaville study group. Pain in methadone patients: Time to address undertreatment and suicide risk (ANRS-methaville trial). *PLoS One*. 2017 May 1; 12(5): e0176288. PMCID: PMC5435132.
- 21. Umbricht A, DeFulio A, Winstanley EL, Tompkins DA, Peirce J, Mintzer MZ, Strain EC, Bigelow GE. Topiramate for cocaine dependence during methadone maintenance treatment: A randomized controlled trial. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 2014 Jul 1; 140: 92-100. PMCID: PMC4431633.
- 22. Dyer KR, White JM. Patterns of symptom complaints in methadone maintenance patients. *Addiction*. 1997; 92(11): 1445-1455.
- 23. Tompkins DA, Bigelow GE, Harrison JA, Johnson RE, Fudala PJ, Strain EC. Concurrent validation of the clinical opiate withdrawal scale (COWS) and single-item indices against the clinical institute narcotic assessment (CINA) opioid withdrawal instrument. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2009 Nov 1; 105(1-2): 154-159. PMCID: PMC2774236.
- 24. Handelsman L, Cochrane KJ, Aronson MJ, Ness R, Rubinstein KJ, Kanof PD. Two new rating scales for opiate withdrawal. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*. 1987; 13(3): 293-308.
- 25. Tompkins DA, Campbell CM. Opioid-induced hyperalgesia: Clinically relevant or extraneous research phenomenon? *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* 2011 Apr; 15(2): 129-136. PMCID: PMC3165032.
- 26. Bickel WK, Johnson MW. Delay discounting: A fundamental behavioral process of drug dependence. In: Loewenstein G, Read D, Baumeister R, editors. Time and decision: Economic and psychological perspectives on intertemporal choice. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation; 2003. p. 419-440.
- 27. Bickel WK, Johnson MW. Junk time: Pathological behavior as the interaction of evolutionary and cultural forces. In: Choice, Behavioural Economics and Addiction. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier Ltd; 2003. p. 249-278.
- 28. Coffey SF, Gudleski GD, Saladin ME, Brady KT. Impulsivity and rapid discounting of delayed hypothetical rewards in cocaine-dependent individuals. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2003 Feb; 11(1): 18-25.
- 29. Heil SH, Johnson MW, Higgins ST, Bickel WK. Delay discounting in currently using and currently abstinent cocaine-dependent outpatients and non-drug-using matched controls. *Addict Behav.* 2006 Jul; 31(7): 1290-4.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 31 of 37

- 30. Bickel WK, Odum AL, Madden GJ. Impulsivity and cigarette smoking: Delay discounting in current, never, and ex-smokers. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 1999 Oct; 146(4): 447-54.
- 31. Baker F, Johnson MW, Bickel WK. Delay discounting in current and never-before cigarette smokers: Similarities and differences across commodity, sign, and magnitude. *J Abnorm Psychol.* 2003 Aug; 112(3): 382-92.
- 32. Johnson MW, Bickel WK, Baker F. Moderate drug use and delay discounting: A comparison of heavy, light, and never smokers. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2007 Apr; 15(2): 187-94.
- 33. Hoffman WF, Moore M, Templin R, McFarland B, Hitzemann RJ, Mitchell SH. Neuropsychological function and delay discounting in methamphetamine-dependent individuals. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2006 Oct; 188(2): 162-70.
- 34. Karakula SL, Weiss RD, Griffin ML, Borges AM, Bailey AJ, McHugh RK. Delay discounting in opioid use disorder: Differences between heroin and prescription opioid users. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2016 Dec 01; 169: 68-72. PMCID: PMC5486990.
- 35. Kirby KN, Petry NM, Bickel WK. Heroin addicts have higher discount rates for delayed rewards than non-drug-using controls. *J Exp Psychol Gen.* 1999 Mar; 128(1): 78-87.
- 36. Kirby KN, Petry NM. Heroin and cocaine abusers have higher discount rates for delayed rewards than alcoholics or non-drug-using controls. *Addiction*. 2004 Apr; 99(4): 461-71.
- 37. Dallery J, Raiff BR. Delay discounting predicts eigarette smoking in a laboratory model of abstinence reinforcement. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2007 Mar; 190(4): 485-96.
- 38. Yoon JH, Higgins ST, Heil SH, Sugarbaker RJ, Thomas CS, Badger GJ. Delay discounting predicts postpartum relapse to cigarette smoking among pregnant women. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2007 Apr; 15(2): 176-86.
- 39. Krishnan-Sarin S, Reynolds B, Duhig AM, Smith A, Liss T, McFetridge A, Cavallo DA, Carroll KM, Potenza MN. Behavioral impulsivity predicts treatment outcome in a smoking cessation program for adolescent smokers. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2007 Apr 17; 88(1): 79-82.
- 40. Passetti F, Clark L, Mehta MA, Joyce E, King M. Neuropsychological predictors of clinical outcome in opiate addiction. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2008 Apr 1; 94(1-3): 82-91.
- 41. Giordano LA, Bickel WK, Loewenstein G, Jacobs EA, Marsch L, Badger GJ. Mild opioid deprivation increases the degree that opioid-dependent outpatients discount delayed heroin and money. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2002 Sep; 163(2): 174-182.
- 42. Stoltman JJK, Woodcock EA, Lister JJ, Lundahl LH, Greenwald MK. Heroin delay discounting: Modulation by pharmacological state, drug-use impulsivity, and intelligence. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol.* 2015 Dec; 23(6): 455-463. PMCID: PMC4661782.
- 43. Ainslie G. Specious reward: A behavioral theory of impulsiveness and impulse control. *Psychol Bull.* 1975 Jul; 82(4): 463-96.
- 44. Ainslie G. Breakdown of will. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press; 2001.
- 45. Johnson MW, Bickel WK. Within-subject comparison of real and hypothetical money rewards in delay discounting. *J Exp Anal Behav.* 2002 Mar; 77(2): 129-46.
- 46. Glass JM. Fibromyalgia and cognition. J Clin Psychiatry. 2008; 69 Suppl 2: 20-24.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 32 of 37

- 47. Berryman C, Stanton TR, Jane Bowering K, Tabor A, McFarlane A, Lorimer Moseley G. Evidence for working memory deficits in chronic pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pain.* 2013 Aug; 154(8): 1181-1196.
- 48. Elman I, Borsook D. Common brain mechanisms of chronic pain and addiction. *Neuron.* 2016 Jan 06; 89(1): 11-36.
- 49. Reynolds B, Schiffbauer R. Measuring state changes in human delay discounting: An experiential discounting task. *Behav Processes*. 2004 Nov 30; 67(3): 343-356.
- 50. Tompkins DA, Johnson PS, Smith MT, Strain EC, Edwards RR, Johnson MW. Temporal preference in individuals reporting chronic pain: Discounting of delayed pain-related and monetary outcomes. *Pain.* 2016 Apr; 157(8):1724-32. PMCID: PMC4949122.
- 51. Gracely RH, Geisser ME, Giesecke T, Grant MaB, Petzke F, Williams DA, Clauw DJ. Pain catastrophizing and neural responses to pain among persons with fibromyalgia. *Brain*. 2004 Apr; 127(Pt 4): 835-843.
- 52. Sullivan MJL, Bishop SR, Pivik J. The pain catastrophizing scale: Development and validation. *Psychol Assess.* 1995; 7(4): 524-532.
- 53. Hill JC, Lewis M, Sim J, Hay EM, Dziedzic K. Predictors of poor outcome in patients with neck pain treated by physical therapy. *Clin J Pain*. 2007; 23(8): 683-690.
- 54. Jensen MP, Ehde DM, Hoffman AJ, Patterson DR, Czerniecki JM, Robinson LR. Cognitions, coping and social environment predict adjustment to phantom limb pain. *Pain.* 2002; 95(1-2): 133-142.
- 55. Karels CH, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Burdorf A, Verhagen AP, Nauta AP, Koes BW. Social and psychological factors influenced the course of arm, neck and shoulder complaints. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2007; 60(8): 839-848.
- 56. Pavlin DJ, Sullivan MJ, Freund PR, Roesen K. Catastrophizing: A risk factor for postsurgical pain. *Clin J Pain*. 2005; 21(1): 83-90.
- 57. Burns LC, Ritvo SE, Ferguson MK, Clarke H, Seltzer Z, Katz J. Pain catastrophizing as a risk factor for chronic pain after total knee arthroplasty: A systematic review. *J Pain Res.* 2015; 8: 21-32. PMCID: PMC4294690.
- 58. Sullivan MJ, Thorn B, Haythornthwaite JA, Keefe F, Martin M, Bradley LA, Lefebvre JC. Theoretical perspectives on the relation between catastrophizing and pain. *Clin J Pain*. 2001 Mar; 17(1): 52-64.
- 59. Edwards RR, Haythornthwaite JA, Smith MT, Klick B, Katz JN. Catastrophizing and depressive symptoms as prospective predictors of outcomes following total knee replacement. *Pain Res Manag.* 2009; 14(4): 307-311. PMCID: PMC2734518.
- 60. Passik SD, Lowery A. Psychological variables potentially implicated in opioid-related mortality as observed in clinical practice. *Pain Med.* 2011 Jun; 12 Suppl 2: 36. PMCID: PMC4112122.
- 61. Sansone RA, Watts DA, Wiederman MW. Pain, pain catastrophizing, and history of intentional overdoses and attempted suicide. *Pain Pract.* 2014 Feb; 14(2): 29. PMCID: PMC4160420.
- 62. Dunn KE, Tompkins DA, Bigelow GE, Strain EC. Efficacy of tramadol extended-release for opioid withdrawal: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2017 Sep 1; 74(9): 885-893. PMCID: PMC5710234.
- 63. Tompkins DA, Smith MT, Mintzer MZ, Campbell CM, Strain EC. A double blind, within subject comparison of spontaneous opioid withdrawal from buprenorphine versus morphine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 2014 Feb; 348(2): 217-226. PMCID: PMC3912547.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 33 of 37

PMC2765051.

- 64. Tompkins DA, Huhn AS, Johnson PS, Smith MT, Strain EC, Edwards RR, Johnson MW. To take or not to take: The association between perceived addiction risk, expected analgesic response and likelihood of trying novel pain relievers in self-identified chronic pain patients. *Addiction*. 2018 Jan; 113(1): 67-79. PMCID: PMC5725253. 65. Johnson MW, Bickel WK. An algorithm for identifying nonsystematic delay-
- 66. Johnson MW, Bickel WK, Baker F, Moore BA, Badger GJ, Budney AJ. Delay discounting in current and former marijuana-dependent individuals. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol.* 2010 Feb; 18(1): 99-107. PMCID: PMC2874198.

discounting data. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol. 2008 Jun; 16(3): 264-74. PMCID:

- 67. Herrmann ES, Johnson PS, Johnson MW. Examining delay discounting of condomprotected sex among men who have sex with men using crowdsourcing technology. *AIDS Behav.* 2015 Sep; 19(9): 1655-1665. PMCID: PMC4845734.
- 68. Johnson MW, Herrmann ES, Sweeney MM, LeComte RS, Johnson PS. Cocaine administration dose-dependently increases sexual desire and decreases condom use likelihood: The role of delay and probability discounting in connecting cocaine with HIV. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2017 Feb; 234(4): 599-612. PMCID: PMC5343757.
- 69. Rass O, Pacek LR, Johnson PS, Johnson MW. Characterizing use patterns and perceptions of relative harm in dual users of electronic and tobacco cigarettes. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol.* 2015 Dec; 23(6): 494-503. PMCID: PMC4658305.
- 70. Johnson PS, Sweeney MM, Herrmann ES, Johnson MW. Alcohol increases delay and probability discounting of condom-protected sex: A novel vector for alcohol-related HIV transmission. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2016 Jun; 40(6): 1339-1350. PMCID: PMC4968206.
- 71. Finan PH, Carroll CP, Moscou-Jackson G, Martel MO, Campbell CM, Pressman A, Smyth JM, Tremblay JM, Lanzkron SM, Haythornthwaite JA. Daily opioid use fluctuates as a function of pain, catastrophizing, and affect in patients with sickle cell disease: An electronic daily diary analysis. *J Pain*. 2018 Jan; 19(1): 46-56. PMCID: PMC5820769
- 72. Drewes AM, Bouwense SAW, Campbell CM, Ceyhan GO, Delhaye M, Demir IE, Garg PK, van Goor H, Halloran C, Isaji S, Neoptolemos JP, Olesen SS, Palermo T, Pasricha PJ, Sheel A, Shimosegawa T, Szigethy E, Whitcomb DC, Yadav D, Working group for the International (IAP APA JPS EPC) Consensus Guidelines for Chronic Pancreatitis. Guidelines for the understanding and management of pain in chronic pancreatitis. *Pancreatology*. 2017; 17(5): 720-731. PMID: 28734722.
- 73. Campbell CM, Diamond E, Schmidt WK, Kelly M, Allen R, Houghton W, Brady KL, Campbell JN. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of injected capsaicin for pain in Morton's neuroma. *Pain.* 2016 Jun; 157(6): 1297-1304.
- 74. Arout CA, Edens E, Petrakis IL, Sofuoglu M. Targeting opioid-induced hyperalgesia in clinical treatment: Neurobiological considerations. *CNS Drugs*. 2015 Jun; 29(6): 465-486.
- 75. Campbell CM, Buenaver LF, Finan P, Bounds SC, Redding M, McCauley L, Robinson M, Edwards RR, Smith MT. Sleep, pain catastrophizing, and central sensitization in knee osteoarthritis patients with and without insomnia. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. 2015 Oct; 67(10): 1387-1396. PMCID: PMC4580506.
- 76. Campbell CM, Jamison RN, Edwards RR. Psychological screening/phenotyping as predictors for spinal cord stimulation. *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* 2013 Jan; 17(1): 6. PMCID: PMC3601592.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 34 of 37

- 77. Campbell CM, Bounds SC, Kuwabara H, Edwards RR, Campbell JN, Haythornthwaite JA, Smith MT. Individual variation in sleep quality and duration is related to cerebral mu opioid receptor binding potential during tonic laboratory pain in healthy subjects. *Pain Med.* 2013 Dec; 14(12): 1882-1892. PMCID: PMC4104524.
- 78. Hastie BA, Riley JL, Kaplan L, Herrera DG, Campbell CM, Virtusio K, Mogil JS, Wallace MR, Fillingim RB. Ethnicity interacts with the OPRM1 gene in experimental pain sensitivity. *Pain.* 2012 Aug; 153(8): 1610-1619. PMCID: PMC3683662.
- 79. Campbell CM, Kipnes MS, Stouch BC, Brady KL, Kelly M, Schmidt WK, Petersen KL, Rowbotham MC, Campbell JN. Randomized control trial of topical clonidine for treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy. *Pain.* 2012 Sep; 153(9): 1815-1823. PMCID: PMC3683662.
- 80. Campbell CM, McCauley L, Bounds SC, Mathur VA, Conn L, Simango M, Edwards RR, Fontaine KR. Changes in pain catastrophizing predict later changes in fibromyalgia clinical and experimental pain report: Cross-lagged panel analyses of dispositional and situational catastrophizing. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2012 Oct 25; 14(5): R231. PMCID: PMC3580543.
- 81. Campbell CM, Edwards RR. Ethnic differences in pain and pain management. *Pain Manag.* 2012 May; 2(3): 219-230. PMCID: PMC3654683.
- 82. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, Hergueta T, Baker R, Dunbar GC. The mini-international neuropsychiatric interview (M.I.N.I.): The development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 1998; 59 Suppl 20: 57.
- 83. Hardt J, Jacobsen C, Goldberg J, Nickel R, Buchwald D. Prevalence of chronic pain in a representative sample in the United States. *Pain Med.* 2008 Oct; 9(7): 803-812.
- 84. Bastien CH, Vallières A, Morin CM. Validation of the Insomnia Severity Index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med.* 2001;2:297–307.
- 85. Barratt ES. Impulsiveness subtraits: Arousal and information processing. In: Spence CE, Izard CE, editors. Motivation, Emotion and Personality. New York: Elsevier Science Publishers; 1985. p. 137-146.
- 86. Patton JH, Stanford MS, Barratt ES. Factor structure of the Barrett impulsiveness scale. *J Clin Psychol.* 1995 Nov; 51(6): 768-74.
- 87. Eysenck SBG, Pearson PR, Easting G, Allsopp FJ. Age norms for impulsiveness, venturesomeness and empathy in adults. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 1985; 6: 613–619.
- 88. Zuckerman M, Zuckerman M. Behavioral expressions and biosocial bases of sensation seeking. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press: 1994.
- 89. Zimbardo PG, Boyd JN. Putting time in perspective: A valid, reliable individual-differences metric. *J Pers Soc Psychol*. 1999 Dec; 77(6): 1271-1288.
- 90. AATOD | AATOD guidelines for guest medication [homepage on the Internet]. [cited Nov 5, 2018]. Available from: http://www.aatod.org/policies/policy-statements/aatod-guidelines-for-guest-medication/.
- 91. Benowitz NL, Porchet H, Sheiner L, Jacob P. Nicotine absorption and cardiovascular effects with smokeless tobacco use: Comparison with cigarettes and nicotine gum. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 1988 Jul; 44(1): 23-28.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 35 of 37

- 92. Fields S, Leraas K, Collins C, Reynolds B. Delay discounting as a mediator of the relationship between perceived stress and cigarette smoking status in adolescents. *Behav Pharmacol.* 2009 Sep; 20(5-6): 455-460. PMCID: PMC3209706.
- 93. Yi R, Johnson MW, Giordano LA, Landes RD, Badger GJ, Bickel WK. The effects of reduced cigarette smoking on discounting future rewards: An initial evaluation. *Psychol Rec.* 2008; 58(2): 163-174. PMCID: PMC3697871.
- 94. Cleeland CS. Measurement of pain by subjective report. In: Advances in pain research and therapy. New York: Raven Press; 1989. p. 391-403.
- 95. Rosado J, Walsh SL, Bigelow GE, Strain EC. Sublingual buprenorphine/naloxone precipitated withdrawal in subjects maintained on 100mg of daily methadone. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 2007 Oct 8; 90(2-3): 261-269.
- 96. Strain EC, Walsh SL, Bigelow GE. Blockade of hydromorphone effects by buprenorphine/naloxone and buprenorphine. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2002 Jan; 159(2): 161-166.
- 97. Strain EC, Preston KL, Liebson IA, Bigelow GE. Buprenorphine effects in methadone-maintained volunteers: Effects at two hours after methadone. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 1995 Feb; 272(2): 628-638.
- 98. Walsh SL, Strain EC, Bigelow GE. Evaluation of the effects of lofexidine and clonidine on naloxone-precipitated withdrawal in opioid-dependent humans. *Addiction*. 2003 Apr; 98(4): 427-439.
- 99. Yi R, Johnson MW, Bickel WK. Relationship between cooperation in an iterated prisoner's dilemma game and the discounting of hypothetical outcomes. *Learn Behav.* 2005 Aug; 33(3): 324-36.
- 100. Johnson MW. An efficient operant choice procedure for assessing delay discounting in humans: Initial validation in cocaine-dependent and control individuals. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol.* 2012 Jun; 20(3): 191-204. PMCID: PMC3535463.
- 101. Johnson MW, Bruner NR. The sexual discounting task: HIV risk behavior and the discounting of delayed sexual rewards in cocaine dependence. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2012 Jun 01; 123(1-3): 15-21. PMCID: PMC3290676.
- 102. Ohmura Y, Takahashi T, Kitamura N, Wehr P. Three-month stability of delay and probability discounting measures. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol.* 2006 Aug; 14(3): 318-328.
- 103. Vuchinich RE, Simpson CA. Hyperbolic temporal discounting in social drinkers and problem drinkers. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*. 1998 Aug; 6(3): 292-305.
- 104. Lagorio CH, Madden GJ. Delay discounting of real and hypothetical rewards III: Steady-state assessments, forced-choice trials, and all real rewards. *Behav Processes*. 2005 May 31; 69(2): 173-87.
- 105. Madden GJ, Raiff BR, Lagorio CH, Begotka AM, Mueller AM, Hehli DJ, Wegener AA. Delay discounting of potentially real and hypothetical rewards: II. Between- and within-subject comparisons. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2004 Nov; 12(4): 251-61.
- 106. Madden GJ, Begotka AM, Raiff BR, Kastern LL. Delay discounting of real and hypothetical rewards. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2003 May; 11(2): 139-45.
- 107. Wesson, D.R., Ling, W., Jara, G., and the Committee on Treatment of Opioid Dependence, editor. Buprenorphine in pharmacotherapy of opioid addiction:
- Implementation in office-based medical practice; translating the experience of clinical trials into clinical practice. San Francisco, CA: California Society of Addiction Medicine; 1999.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 36 of 37

- 108. Preston KL, Bigelow GE, Liebson IA. Butorphanol-precipitated withdrawal in opioid-dependent human volunteers. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 1988 Aug; 246(2): 441-448.
- 109. Strain EC, Preston KL, Liebson IA, Bigelow GE. Acute effects of buprenorphine, hydromorphone and naloxone in methadone-maintained volunteers. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 1992 Jun; 261(3): 985-993.
- 110. Cohen J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc; 1988.

Version #: 1.9 Version Date: 12/09/2020 Page 37 of 37